

Make Your Publications Visible.

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre

Lasco, Paul Gideon D.; Mendoza, Jhaki A.

Working Paper

Beyond parents and guardians: Mapping and mobilizing the "significant others" in early childhood care and development in the Philippines

PIDS Discussion Paper Series, No. 2025-01

Provided in Cooperation with:

Philippine Institute for Development Studies (PIDS), Philippines

Suggested Citation: Lasco, Paul Gideon D.; Mendoza, Jhaki A. (2025): Beyond parents and guardians: Mapping and mobilizing the "significant others" in early childhood care and development in the Philippines, PIDS Discussion Paper Series, No. 2025-01, Philippine Institute for Development Studies (PIDS), Quezon City, https://doi.org/10.62986/dp2025.01

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/315135

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.











Beyond Parents and Guardians: Mapping and Mobilizing the 'Significant Others' in Early Childhood Care and Development in the Philippines

Paul Gideon D. Lasco and Jhaki A. Mendoza

The PIDS Discussion Paper Series constitutes studies that are preliminary and subject to further revisions. They are being circulated in a limited number of copies only for purposes of soliciting comments and suggestions for further refinements. The studies under the Series are unedited and unreviewed. The views and opinions expressed are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect those of the Institute. The Institute allows citation and quotation of the paper as long as proper attribution is made.

This study is carried out with support from the Second Congressional Commission on Education (EDCOM II).

CONTACT US:

RESEARCH INFORMATION DEPARTMENT **Philippine Institute for Development Studies**

18th Floor, Three Cyberpod Centris - North Tower EDSA corner Quezon Avenue, Quezon City, Philippines







publications@pids.gov.ph



(+632) 8877-4000

Beyond Parents and Guardians: Mapping and Mobilizing the 'Significant Others' in Early Childhood Care and Development in the Philippines

Paul Gideon D. Lasco Jhaki A. Mendoza

Philippine Institute for Development Studies Second Congressional Commission on Education (EDCOM II)

Abstract

ECCD discourse, policy, and research have understandably focused on parents: their roles, knowledge, practices, and lived experiences. However, it truly 'takes a village' to raise a child, perhaps particularly so in a very intergenerational, communal society like the Philippines where both of the past (e.g. cultural history) and the future (e.g. demographic shifts) point to the greater involvement of various 'significant others' in the *pag-aalaga* (i.e. care or nurturing) of children. This report examines how Filipino parents approach early childhood development, emphasizing the central role of various actors—parents, siblings, grandparents, domestic helpers (*yayas, kasambahays*), and community members (e.g., barangay health workers)—in shaping children's early development. Inspired and informed by 17 key informant interviews and a review of the social sciences literature, we map the different participants in ECCD and propose possible ways to leverage them toward better child health and education outcomes.

Keywords: early childhood care and development, childrearing, parenting experiences, caregiving network, qualitative research

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	1
OBJECTIVES	3
REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE	3
(Cross-)cultural perspectives on childhood and parenting	3
Parental perspectives and practices on education	5
Gender roles and expectations in parenting	5
Parenting practices in health and nutrition	6
Parenting practices in early learning	7
METHODOLOGY	7
Narrative analysis of related literature	8
Key informant interviews	9
ANALYSIS	. 11
RESULTS 11	
Participant demographics	. 11
Lived experiences of parents and significant others in early childcare and development.	. 11
Theme 1: Home environment and family involvement	. 12
Theme 2: Educational institution and wider community involvement	. 15
Theme 3: Barriers to early childhood care and education	. 18
POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS	. 19
BIBLIOGRAPHY	. 22
List of Tables	
Table 1. Sampling criteria	9
Table 2. Characteristics of participants	
List of Figures	
Figure 1. Data Collection Activities and Project Outputs	R
r igaro 1. Data Odilodion / totividos ana r rojodi Odipats	O

Beyond Parents and Guardians: Mapping and Mobilizing the 'Significant Others' in Early Childhood Care and Development in the Philippines

Paul Gideon D. Lasco and Jhaki A. Mendoza*

INTRODUCTION

The parent-child relationship is at the heart of human development, cultural life, and social reproduction, whether in highly urbanized modern societies or in the most rural indigenous communities. In the course of studying the diversity of human experience across these settings, anthropologists with their commitment to ethnography (i.e. long-term fieldwork) have collectively touched on various aspects of this relationship, including how they vary across cultures and contexts. Similarly, sociologists with their attention to social structures have charted how parenting is practiced in different parts of the world.

Despite the potential of anthropology, sociology, and other social sciences (e.g. history, geography) to contribute to our understanding of Early Childhood Care and Development (ECCD), their works have not figured in policy discourses and the more applied scholarship that focuses on ECCD. In the Philippine context, this gap is particularly unfortunate since anthropologists and sociologists alike have worked with indigenous peoples across the archipelago, overseas Filipinos, and other understudied groups, each of which necessarily involving matters relevant to ECCD.

This study seeks to overcome this gap by reviewing the existing social science literature on parenting and child-rearing, including and going beyond the rubrics of ECCD. To offer some contextualization, validation, and inspiration, it will also involve key informant interviews with parents of different demographic backgrounds.

The anthropologist Julie Spray (Spray 2018, p.1) opines that anthropology can challenge (and therefore improve) child health policy, noting that "this research is valuable for its challenges to ethnocentric assumptions often embedded in health policy which privilege adult knowledge and experience." Following her approach, social science research can help interrogate the following assumptions:

- 1. Parents are passive recipients of child-rearing and parenting styles
- 2. Parental knowledge around the country is homogenous and can be generalized based on scientific and public understandings/expectations
- 3. Parents are simply "misguided" with various "misconceptions" that can be corrected through education

* GL is a consultant at Philippine Institute for Development Studies and JM is a research associate of GL affiliated to University of the Philippines - Manila. This report is part of the outputs for the research program on Early Childhood Care and Development in partnership with the Second Congressional Commission on Education directed by Dr. Valerie Gilbert T. Ulep, with Aaron Carlos G. Manuel, Lyle Daryll D. Casas, and Danielle Lois M. Carreon. VGT, ACM, LDC, DLC are Senior Research Fellow, Project Technical Specialist, Research Specialist, and Project Senior Research Specialist of PIDS, respectively.

- 4. Parenting roles, norms, and expectations can be isolated from broader social relations and structural (i.e. economic, sociocultural) factors
- 5. Parents are the sole major actors insofar as ECCD in the Philippines is concerned, notwithstanding the often multi-generational, extended, and communal nature of Filipino households

Hence, instead of viewing parental knowledge and practice from the vantage point of ECCD, we propose to approach the literature the other way around, that is, to view ECCD from the vantage point of overall parental knowledge and practice. In this light, the following questions are of interest to this subproject:

- 1. What are their beliefs/knowledge about education and development in general?
- 2. How do Filipino parents view early education, and what are their practices related to it?
- 3. What are parents' own "learning objectives" and "developmental milestones" for their children? Does it change depending on the child's gender?
- 4. What are Filipino parents' sources of knowledge?
- 5. What are the decision-making processes and power dynamics between parental dyads? Who are other parties involved (e.g. grandparents, relatives, teachers)
- 6. How do socio-economic, geographic, and other demographic variables shape parental knowledge and practice concerning health and education?
- 7. What are the barriers faced by vulnerable and marginalized groups in terms of ECCD?
- 8. Beyond educational outcomes, what else is at stake in ECCD?
- 9. What are parental outcomes in the child-rearing project and how are they reflected in their lived experiences?

As with the broader project of which it is part, this study can be beneficial to policymakers and different implementing agencies by providing evidence that will help them create well-informed decisions related to the demand-side factors influencing engagement in ECCD. It may also unearth overlooked aspects of ECCD (e.g. extra-parental roles, parents' own needs and outcomes, cultural values) that can inform policy.

Reviewing the anthropological and sociological literature on parenting in the Philippines can illuminate barriers and facilitators in early childhood care and development, especially those that involve parental knowledge, perceptions, and practices. Moreover, the grounded, openended, and inductive nature of this body of work can *decenter* attention to educational or developmental outcomes and instead call attention firstly to broader parenting cultures and only secondly to childhood education can be situated within parental and familial expectations, norms, values, and aspirations. Given the nature of academic disciplinary divides, the anthropological and sociological literature is also usually omitted in literature reviews on ECCD, thus missing out on their potential contributions - to knowledge, policy, and practice.

OBJECTIVES

The main objective of this project is to identify the parenting styles of Filipino parents and parental caregivers especially as they pertain to early education, health, and nutrition, corresponding to strategic objective 2 (SO2) of the umbrella project. Additionally, it aims:

- 1. To identify the variations across major socioeconomic and sociodemographic characteristics or groups (e.g., urban and rural poor, Indigenous Peoples (IPs), Overseas Filipino Workers (OFWs), etc).
- 2. To identify sociocultural and economic barriers and facilitators of these groups to engage in optimal and recommended parenting behavior and practices (i.e., nutrition, health, and early education such as utilization of ECCD services among 3- to 4-year-olds), drawing on the broader anthropological and sociological body of work.

REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE

(Cross-)cultural perspectives on childhood and parenting

The anthropology of childhood is viewed as a relatively late pursuit in the field of anthropology. "Mainstream anthropology," Hirschfeld (2002, p.611) noted, "has marginalized children because it has marginalized the two things that children do especially well: children are strikingly adept at acquiring adult culture and, less obviously, adept at creating their own cultures" (see also(Weisner, n.d.) 2015). Parenting, too, has been similarly overlooked but much progress has been accomplished in recent decades to overcome this gap. Researchers now reflect on parenting as a 'cultural accomplishment' and argue that parenting should not be seen merely as a set of reproducible, fixed, and mastered skills but as a dynamic interaction deeply embedded within a broader cultural milieu(Furedi 2002): xiv).

Over time, the perception of child-rearing as a learned skill has gained more attention, shifting away from the view that it is an inherent capacity of mothers and fathers. This paradigm shift has led to an evolving nature of parental relationships with children, increasingly seen as separate from the acquisition of specific parenting techniques.

Such works have also been critical of how developmental interventions based on Western models have been uncritically (and forcibly) applied to non-Western contexts without regard for the cultural context. Morelli et al. (2018) highlight that such programs frequently push caregivers to alter their parenting approaches without fully understanding the broader impact on families and communities. In addition to critiquing these geographic and structural power imbalances, researchers have also pointed out that early childhood development studies tend to prioritize biological fields like developmental and cognitive psychology while overlooking insights from broader social sciences including anthropology, cultural psychology, sociology and other related disciplines, which could offer a more nuanced understanding of child-rearing practices within specific communities and social milieu (Scheidecker et al. 2023).

Meanwhile, other works have also looked at parental educational and economic backgrounds as a necessary context. Reviewing the global literature, Tamis-LeMonda and Rodriguez ((Tamis-LeMonda and Rodriguez 2008) found that limited formal education affects mothers' ability to foster verbal interactions with their children. They found that mothers with lower levels of education engage in reading activities with their children less frequently. Furthermore, there is a close link between socioeconomic income and parental education. Families experiencing persistent poverty often provide less stimulating home environments, putting children at a higher risk of cognitive, academic, and social-emotional challenges.

A notable anthropological body of research has also looked at the everyday realities and emotions of parenting practices to uncover the deeply demanding, morally laden, and emotionally driven requirements to sustain parenting. In their editorial work, Faircloth and colleagues (Faircloth et al. 2013, p. xviii) intended to "highlight parents as active agents emphasizing the often overlooked changes they undergo being embedded in an interconnected system of kinship, culture and ideology."

As parents themselves, Faircloth and colleagues (2013:1), belabored the paucity of anthropological work on the topic of parenting, leading them to deconstruct the whole idea of parenting both as contemporary cultural and political projects, questioning the "expert-led" knowledge re-formation on parenting, designed to create a universalizing standard on childrearing, as well as expectations on mothering and fathering:

Ideas shaping our understanding of "parenting" challenges conventional notions of childrearing by prompting a reassessment of the objectives, resources, and relationships that define it within an evolving global framework. Rather than being confined strictly to traditional caregiving roles within kinship structures, "parenting" is increasingly regarded as an acquired skill set. It is now often linked to specialized knowledge of child development and care, shaped by contemporary research and guided by expert-driven approaches to raising children.

In conclusion, the exploration of (cross-)cultural perspectives on childhood and parenting reveals the complexities and nuances often overlooked in mainstream anthropology. The marginalization of children and parenting in anthropological research has gradually been addressed, leading to a richer understanding of these domains as deeply embedded within broader cultural contexts. The critique of Western-centric developmental interventions highlights the importance of culturally sensitive approaches that acknowledge the unique practices and values of non-Western communities. Furthermore, the intersection of parental education, economic background, and parenting practices underscores the need for a holistic view that considers the socio-economic challenges faced by families. As Faircloth and colleagues argue, the contemporary reformation of parenting as an expert-led activity calls for a re-examination of the goals and resources that define childrearing in today's globalized world. By embracing diverse cultural perspectives and recognizing the dynamic interactions involved in parenting, researchers and policymakers can foster more inclusive and effective approaches to supporting children and families.

Parental perspectives and practices on education

In the Philippines, many scholarly works have sought to elicit parental perspectives and a general outlook toward parental involvement, or "any action taken by a parent that can theoretically be expected to improve educational performance or behavior" (McNeal et al. 2014, p. 564). Ulep and colleagues (forthcoming) note that a significant number of parents with children aged 3 to 4 years olf choose not to enroll them in early education programs, believing their children are too young for structured learning. This perspective is widely shared across socioeconomic groups, with low-income and of affluent households expressing similar views. In a qualitative survey of parents of primary schoolchildren in rural Cebu, researchers found that the parents were generally supportive of sending their children from four years of age and up, but they did not receive information and advance notice regarding school activities, hindering their ability to participate(Alfafara, Canque, and Genobiagon 2021).

Poverty and financial instability create different parental involvement practices in the Philippines wherein active participation of parents in school activities and heavy involvement in the decision-making process concerning academic curriculum and activities are potentially weak. Nonetheless, parental involvement in home-based settings was much more prominent. Drawing on a broader sample in six different provinces, Jabar (2021) highlights distinct parental involvement strategies shaped by the economic challenges faced by some Filipino families. The study found that parents adopt alternative approaches to support their children's academic success, such as excusing them from household chores, discouraging engagement in vices, and fostering strong family relationships. Similar findings were highlighted by Garcia and De Guzman(Garcia and de Guzman 2020) in their study regarding parental involvement of parents from low-income families in Quezon City. They found that the academic needs of children are deeply valued because education is regarded as an instrumental tool to escape poverty. As a result, low-income parents are highly engaged in home-based learning activities such as closely monitoring their children to finish homework and prioritizing educational activities before play and leisure activities. These parents often emphasize the importance of education as the only intangible inheritance they can provide to their children, even at a young age, which can later create emotional pressure. Alfafara and colleagues ((Alfafara, Canque, and Genobiagon 2021) in their study conducted in Cebu City, found that parents are generally optimistic and supportive of the education system, but they often fail to become involved due to competing social and economic responsibilities. The study also found that parents, especially those who are poor and have lesser educational attainment, may also feel disempowered to make an active stance in advocating for the educational needs of their children.

By recognizing the various ways parents support their children's education, these studies call attention to the structural and most especially economic contexts of parenting toward educational success and urge policymakers to broaden their definitions of what counts as "parental involvement" toward academic success.

Gender roles and expectations in parenting

Research spanning from 1979 to 2007 (Alampay 2014) has consistently shown that Filipino mothers and fathers assume roles based on traditional gender norms. Mothers, much like in many other cultures, take on the primary caregiving responsibilities, overseeing their children's

education, daily routines, and overall well-being. The phrase "ilaw ng tahanan," meaning "light of the home," reflects the conventional view of Filipino mothers as the family's primary nurturers. In contrast, fathers are seen as the "haligi ng tahanan" or "pillar of the home," tasked mainly with providing financial support, with minimal involvement in other aspects of child-rearing (Alampay 2014). This depiction is more commonly observed in single-earner families, where fathers were usually relegated to the task of maintaining a source of income while mothers are expected to maintain domestic work most especially ensuring that children are well-fed and dressed(Mundoc et al. 2024).

Parenting styles among Filipino mothers and fathers were described as both espousing authoritarian beliefs where obedience and respect to authority are highly regarded values commonly taught to their children(Alampay and Jocson 2011). However, with the preponderance of global parenting knowledge and information made available by both mainstream and social media, Filipino mothers are observed to possess more "modern" childrearing attitudes than Filipino fathers, granting more agency and freedom for self-expression towards their children(Alampay 2024).

Such classical works (and understandings) notwithstanding, other studies suggest a more nuanced picture. For instance, while mothers are traditionally regarded as the major caregivers, especially of their sick children, a study by(Sato et al. 2018) found that fathers in Biliran acknowledged and often assumed the same responsibility, even as they emphasized their roles as financial providers.

Collectively, these studies point to the fact that distinct gender lines, with mothers as primary caregivers and fathers as breadwinners have characterized the traditional roles of Filipino mothers and fathers. However, evolving social dynamics and the influx of global parenting knowledge have started to reshape these roles. These findings highlight the importance of acknowledging both traditional and emerging practices in understanding the complexities of parenting in the Philippines, urging a more inclusive perspective that reflects the evolving nature of familial roles and responsibilities.

Parenting practices in health and nutrition

Exclusive breastfeeding rates in the Philippines remain low, with early initiation occurring in just over half of newborns (NNC 2023). Similarly, a significant gap exists in childhood immunization, as the proportion of fully immunized children falls short of the level needed to ensure adequate population protection (Ulep et al., forthcoming). Regarding dietary habits, there has been increasing awareness of food quality and nutrition, especially during the pandemic, as Filipino families adopted healthier eating practices and turned to home-cooked meals (Tariga, Nolasco, and Barayuga 2021). Nonetheless, with the ubiquity of calorie and energy-dense foods like fast food and restaurant food items, many Filipino children under 5 years old were found to be consuming inadequate micronutrients (Denney et al. 2018). In a separate study exploring parental feeding styles, Arde and De Vera ((Arde and De Vera 2022) found that mothers who are employed and earning well tend to use food as a reward and as a tool to regulate children's emotional distress or tantrums. These mothers also have less time in their hands to prepare nutritious food options as compared to self-employed mothers who can offer more nutritious food choices to their children like adding fruits and carefully selecting vegetables to include in their meals. The same study also found that the place of residence is a

significant predictor of parenting feeding styles with parents and children living in urban areas exposed to a wider array of energy-dense and more appealing food options like restaurant food items.

A scoping review on the health outcomes of the left-behind children (LBC) of Filipino overseas workers found enormous poor physical, nutritional, and mental health outcomes from parental separation especially for children left during their early and formative years(Dominguez and Hall 2022). Given the lack of attention on this specific research, the authors call for additional public health research on the health disparities and unmet needs of left behind filipino children.

Some works have also considered parental participation in child health. Documenting the narratives of parents of children with disability in Southern Mindanao, Lasco and colleagues (Lasco et al. 2022, p.30) found that "coming to terms with a disability is a difficult and lengthy process" and that living with disability "is fraught with medical, financial, educational, and social challenges." Nonetheless, peer support groups provide much-needed assistance. Similarly, Torres and colleagues (Torres et al. 2023) found that contrary to popular belief and parents' own assertions, the caring and raising of children is a "cooperative endeavor" that involves extended family, friends, neighbors, and even online networks.

Parenting practices in early learning

Ulep et al. (forthcoming) highlight key trends in early learning and stimulation, revealing gaps in engagement and enrollment. Many children do not regularly interact with educational media alongside caregivers, with socio-economic disparities influencing access to resources. Early education enrollment (i.e., in daycare or preschool facilities) also remains low, especially among 3- to 4-year-olds, due to cultural beliefs, developmental misconceptions, and limited awareness of its benefits. Moreover, weak government efforts to raise awareness further hinder early education promotion. While financial constraints disproportionately affect low-income families, they are not the primary driver of low participation.

These trends underscore the critical role of parenting knowledge in shaping early learning experiences. Parents' beliefs and perceptions influence how they engage with their children, and these interactions evolve within the broader social environment. Positive experiences can reinforce supportive learning behaviors, while challenges or new information may prompt shifts in parenting approaches. Understanding how these factors interact is essential for strengthening early education initiatives and promoting more inclusive learning opportunities.

METHODOLOGY

The study collected both secondary and primary qualitative data through a literature review and key informant interviews, respectively. Conceptually, this study is open-ended to allow a range of scholarship to inform the analysis and conclusions. That is, the main strategy was to allow the literature review and the key informant interviews to inform each other, and lead to useful and/or hitherto-overlooked insights in ECCD. Figure 1 summarizes the sequence of data collection activities and the expected project outputs.

PROPOSED METHODOLOGY **PROJECT OUTPUTS** Online search of electronic databases Narrative Review of Online retrieval of full journal articles. documents and reports **OUTPUT 1:** nowledge, perceptions, and practices n EECD Thematic analysis of key insights Participant recruitment and consent process OUTPUT 2: Key Informant Interviews Policy recommendations towards parenting support and ECCD improvement Conduct of audio-recorded interviews (60-90 mins each) Completion of interview summaries per interview Thematic analysis of key insights

Figure 1. Data Collection Activities and Project Outputs

Source: Authors' illustration

Narrative analysis of related literature

The primary objective and scope of this study were to compile and provide a summary review of key indicators, data, and information on developments in the areas of parenting and ECCD in the Philippines. The literature review also assisted the study team in identifying research gaps that informed the rationale for key informant interviews. The literature search focused on the following areas:

- 1. Narratives and documentation on parenting practices in the Philippines to understand the lived experiences of Filipino parents, the cultural nuances and local values that informed parenting concepts, and potential distinctions between traditional and contemporary parenting practices.
- 2. Influence of socioeconomic and other sociodemographic attributes (e.g., gender, occupation, educational level, urban vs. rural) on shaping parenting knowledge and practices in the Philippines.
- 3. Differences in parenting knowledge and practices across socioeconomic statuses and sociodemographic profiles.
- 4. Impacts of parenting practices and involvement on childhood development, educational goals, and health and nutritional outcomes of children, including any challenges related to effective parenting.
- 5. Overview of policy and programmatic responses to parenting needs and early childhood care and development.

To identify relevant data and information, key electronic bibliographic databases (e.g., PubMed, ScienceDirect, SpringerLink, Wiley Online Library, JSTOR, SAGE, MEDLINE, Google Scholar) were searched for potentially relevant journal publications. In the search, broad phrases or words related to areas and topics about "childhood," "early childhood education," "parenting," "parenting styles," "parental involvement," "health outcomes," "nutrition," and "development" were used. Reference lists of identified papers were also searched for other relevant publications. Particular attention was paid to studies employing qualitative and/or ethnographic research methodologies. Anthropological and sociological works were carefully reviewed, and local journals were searched for possible relevant studies. The two authors reviewed and analyzed the literature separately and agreed by consensus on how to thematically organize the papers, while also soliciting feedback from the larger project team. Any available grey literature, such as country reports, thesis projects, and dissertations, as well as studies and reports written in the local language, were also included in the literature review whenever possible.

Key informant interviews

Insights from the literature review were complemented with primary research data gathered through key informant interviews to uncover detailed accounts on topics related to parenting practices and knowledge among Filipinos. The interviews were inductive and open-ended, with no definite sample size. Instead, the concept of 'data saturation' (Guest, Namey, and Chen 2020) — the point at which no new concepts or themes emerged — determined the final number of participants. However, based on previous qualitative studies on the topic (Alfafara, Canque, and Genobiagon 2021; Espartinez 2022; Ochoa 2014; Habito, Morgan, and Vaughan 2024; Sato et al. 2018), the estimated sufficient number of participants for this study was around 10-15.

Researchers used a purposive and convenience sampling method, recruiting potential and interested Filipino parents from trusted social networks, including friends, colleagues, relatives, and key experts on parenting and ECCD. Efforts were made to ensure maximum variation based on age, gender, parental roles (maternal and paternal), and location (urban vs. rural). The following sampling characteristics and eligibility criteria guided the recruitment process:

Table 1. Sampling criteria

Sampling characteristics	1. Age 2. Gender (male, female, homosexual, transgender, or non-binary) 3. Caregiving roles/actors (maternal and paternal) 4. Geography—urban and rural distinction, provincial representation outside of Metro Manila whenever possible 5. Socioeconomic class - high-income, middle-class, or low-income 6. Occupation—professional or white-collar workers; blue-collar workers or wage earners
Inclusion criteria	 Individuals who are 18 years old and above who have at least 1 offspring under their care Filipino parents currently residing in the Philippines or situated overseas for work in the last 5 years. Able to understand and speak Tagalog or English

	4. Able to understand and provide written informed consent
Exclusion criteria	 Individuals under 18 years old Individuals with any cognitive and physical impairment that might affect their ability to provide informed consent and participation in the activity

Source: Authors' illustration

The study adhered to research ethical guidelines, addressing ethical considerations related to minimizing risks and security concerns. Information about the project (study objectives, remuneration for participation of around 500PHP, benefits and risks of participation, and data management process) was provided before conducting key informant interviews. It was emphasized that participation in the study was voluntary, and participants could refuse to answer any question or withdraw from the study at any time for any reason. Written and/or verbal informed consent was secured before the start of the interview. Both in-person and virtual modes of interviews were offered as options to prospective participants.

Given the anthropological nature of the study, the guide questions centered on the emic perspective of Filipino parents, emphasizing their own definitions, moral standards, and understanding of good, bad, and effective parenting, as well as their expectations for their children. The interview also elicited their everyday experiences related to parenting, including challenges, sources of information, and social support that shaped their parenting styles, knowledge, and practices.

The study referred to the following interview guide questions:

- 1. General Experience: Tell us about your children. What has your experience been like in raising them?
- 2. Involvement in Education and Health: Can you describe your involvement in their education and health needs? How do you support their learning and well-being? What challenges do you face in providing for their educational needs and healthcare?
- 3. Aspirations and Expectations: What are your aspirations and expectations for your children's future?
- 4. Defining Parenting Standards: How would you describe a good parent? What do you believe are the roles of mothers versus fathers in parenting?
- 5. Work-Life Balance: How do you balance work and family responsibilities? In what ways does your work or employment situation affect your parenting?
- 6. Support Systems: Who are the people who support you in your parenting journey? Where do you get your information and advice from?
- 7. Challenges and Advice: What are the challenges faced by Filipino parents today? How do you cope with the multiple demands (emotional, financial, and physical) of parenting? What advice would you give to young parents, teachers, and the government?

Key Informant Interviews (KIIs) were audio-recorded, and interview notes or summaries for each interview were completed by the respective researchers.

ANALYSIS

The analysis used a mix of deductive and inductive approaches. The deductive approach, guided by insights from the literature review, formed the pre-identified assumptions as the interview data were examined. The inductive approach allowed researchers to identify emerging insights from the interviews. Data were primarily interpreted through the lens of anthropological and sociological knowledge on parenting and early childhood care. The analysis not only described parenting practices documented in the literature but also explored local notions and definitions of parenting and early childhood care. It focused on the emic (i.e. insider) perspective of Filipino parents, highlighting how they defined and understood early childhood development, including educational and health goals for their children. Researchers conducted the analysis separately and regularly met to reach a consensus on the salient themes related to the study objectives.

RESULTS

Participant demographics

Seventeen parents participated in the interviews for this study. The majority were between the ages of 29 and 45, with one participant in her 60s. Additional demographic details are summarized in Table 2 below.

Table 2. Characteristics of participants

Female/Maternal	11
Male/Paternal	6
Metro Manila	7
Luzon	8
Overseas	2
High-income	4
Middle class	7
Low-income	6

Source: Authors' illustration

Lived experiences of parents and significant others in early childcare and development

The interviews reveal the vital role of *significant others* in co-creating practices shaping a child's early development. From siblings and grandparents assuming parental duties to the indispensable contributions of yayas and *kasambahays* (domestic helpers), daycare teachers and the wider community, demonstrating that the care towards Filipino children is truly a communal endeavor. Our findings shed light on how each of these actors participates in the

everyday *pag-aalaga* (nurturing) of children and the implications of this involvement on early childhood care and development (ECCD) program in the Philippines.

Theme 1: Home environment and family involvement

Siblings as co-parents

In many Filipino households, especially those with several children, the panganay (eldest sibling) often takes on significant caregiving responsibilities, standing in as a secondary parent. This role involves assisting with household chores and providing emotional and educational support to younger siblings. Participant 11, a 63-year-old mother who still works as kasambahay, shared: Yung pangay ko ang tumayo ng nanay sa mga kapatid niya (She became the mother to her siblings), reflecting the substantial caregiving duties shouldered by her eldest daughter/son. This dynamic is pervasive in lower-income households where parents may be preoccupied with work or other obligations. Although this arrangement helps relieve the burden on parents, it raises questions about the psychological and emotional impact on the panganay, who often assumes adult-like responsibilities at a young age. Family therapists(Boszormenyi-Nagy 2014) established the term "parentification" to describe the phenomenon where parents abdicate their parental roles to their child - first born or eldest siblings usually replace the adult parents in this dynamic. Parentification happens when excessive instrumental and emotional caregiving roles are passed on to older siblings, while such experiences can be beneficial for child development by increasing trust and cooperation among siblings (Masiran et al. 2023; Nuttall et al. 2019) it can pose developmental and psychological disruptions serving as adversity to early child growth (McLaughlin 2016).

Global research on the parentification of children has called for more cultural representation of this phenomenon. Experts in the field of Filipino families and psychology have introduced the notion of "tagasalo", providing an important cultural lens to understand Filipino family dynamics especially the parentification of eldest siblings(Urdabe 2001; Arellano-Carandang 1987; Go Tian-Ng and Umandap 2023). "Tagasalo" (one who carries burdens) is shaped by deep-rooted values like utang na loob (debt of gratitude) and pakikisama, which may perpetuate the normalization of parentification. By unpacking these cultural concepts, we can better understand how caregiving responsibilities are distributed and why they persist across generations. The challenge lies in balancing these cultural expectations with the child's own emotional and psychological development. Introducing mental health resources at the community level could be vital in helping both parents and children negotiate these complex familial roles(Teng et al. 2021).

Yayas and kasambahays as invisible caregivers

In middle- to upper-class households, yayas and kasambahays are central figures in childrearing, often performing much of the day-to-day care while parents focus on work. Parents tend to downplay their role, but as(Goco 2019) asserts, domestic helpers contribute significantly to the child's socialization and everyday routine. They are involved in feeding, bathing, storytelling, and ensuring children's physical and emotional well-being.

As Participant 12 noted, "I didn't think daycare was relevant in our case because I was able to focus on my child's learning since the rest of the household chores are done by the kasambahay."

Despite their significant role, yayas and kasambahays are often marginalized, with limited formal recognition or training that could enhance their caregiving contributions. Some interviewees noted that while they employ kasambahays in their household, these parents limit the involvement of kasamabahays in terms of educational activities, as Participant 13 shared: We have a kasambahay but when it comes to taking care of our children, we handle it ourselves to be sure. You never know what they might be teaching.

The involvement of domestic workers in early childhood care highlights a gap in ECCD discourse, which typically focuses on parents, often overlooking the critical role of yayas or kasambahays (de Guzman 2014). These caregivers play a pivotal part in reshaping parent-child relationships within households, especially in situations where they, too, are separated from their own children due to long-distance parenting. De Guzman (2014) noted that domestic helpers often take pride in the close bond they form with their *alaga* (child in their care), sometimes seeing them as surrogate children. This connection helps domestic workers cope with the emotional challenges of being away from their own families. While some parents may downplay the importance of yayas, others actively seek out those who exhibit parent-like qualities and attitudes. For instance, Participant 2 emphasizes the value of a yaya who forms strong emotional attachments with her child: "I've tried so many yayas. Some are just there to watch over the child, while others become so attached that they start acting like a second mother. Of course, I prefer the ones who act like a second mother because it gives me peace of mind about the care, and I don't have to worry when I'm at work. I feel secure with the yaya."

The marginalization of *yayas* and *kasambahays* within ECCD frameworks reveals broader socio-economic disparities. Although their labor is integral to the family unit, they often lack access to professional development, which could potentially elevate their contributions to child development. This inequality underscores the class-based dynamics of childrearing in the Philippines, where domestic workers perform crucial nurturing roles but remain undervalued in formal ECCD discourses. Addressing this gap requires not only legislative support for domestic worker rights but also public awareness campaigns to highlight their importance in shaping children's early socialization.

Grandparents and intergenerational learning

In Filipino households, lolas (grandmothers) and lolos (grandfathers) play pivotal roles, especially in providing emotional and social support to the family, particularly their apos (grandchildren). They are often viewed as custodians of cultural knowledge and values, imparting wisdom and life lessons to their grandchildren. De Guzman et al. (2018) emphasize the social-emotional development benefits that children derive from relationships with their grandparents, particularly those raised by grandparent educators. Similarly, Oropilla and Ødegaard (2021) argue that intentional intergenerational programs not only sustain cultural continuity but also foster emotional security in children. In the Philippines, the presence of grandparents in the household serves as both a stabilizing and nurturing force, complementing the efforts of parents and other caregivers.

A significant aspect of grandparents' involvement in child-rearing practices revolves around health and nutrition. They often hold considerable authority in influencing health decisions related to early childhood care:

Participant 2 (37 years old, mother of two from Quezon City): For simple stomach aches or fevers, they want to take my daughter to the doctor right away. But since I have a nursing background, I'm more relaxed. Sometimes it's just normal to get a simple cough, cold, or fever. But I guess the anxiety of my mom has been a big help because my daughter used to get sick a lot as a child. She had some kind of autoimmune disease when she was very young. My mom was the one who looked for doctors we could consult.

Participant 13 (29 years old, father of two from Palawan): The worst thing that happened to our eldest was when he had dengue as a baby. My parents were really anxious back then. They did everything they could to make sure the baby got better. They even had us do some things, like prepare herbal remedies for him to drink. We followed along, probably because it worked before and they had gone through it already.

Beyond medical emergencies, grandparents often assert their views on everyday child-rearing practices, particularly concerning nutrition and sickness prevention. Participant 15, a 31-year-old mother from Rizal, recalls: My in-laws would question us about giving meat to our kid. They said it's not right because the child might not digest it properly. They say, "baka hindi matunawan". And then they also said not to bathe him at night because he might get pneumonia. I asked my pediatrician about it, and she said none of that is true. In fact, meat is healthier for kids because it provides protein, which they need for energy. But you know, when we're in back in the province, we just avoid giving our son meat and follow what the elders say.

At times, tensions and clashes between parents and grandparents ensue especially when the latter are more lenient and prone to spoiling their grandchildren. During the interview, Participant 12, a 43-year-old mother who is currently working overseas in Australia, explained: At first, it was really challenging and tense. For example, with the issue of phone time, my parents would often give in easily. They would just hand the phone over to their grandchild right away. So we had to talk, and I made it clear that when it comes to discipline, I want to be strict and have the final say. There shouldn't be any second or third opinions like in the Philippines. Over time, we sorted it out. When I get upset or discuss something with my child, that's final. My parents (the grandparents) don't have a say anymore.

In Filipino families, grandparents are not just passive caregivers but active participants in health-related decision-making, drawing on their wealth of experience and often favoring local practices and beliefs about health and nutrition. This intergenerational dynamic can sometimes lead to tension as well, as the lenient and more relaxed approach of grandparents—rooted in cultural values and personal experience—can conflict with the modern health protocols and stricter parenting styles preferred by younger parents. The difference in intergenerational communication has important implications for early childhood care and development (ECCD). For instance, the grandparents' more permissive attitude, while nurturing, may inadvertently delay or alter the implementation of health interventions or disciplinary measures. Therefore, child healthcare programs must seek to harmonize these differing approaches, creating spaces for collaborative and culturally sensitive ECCD practices that respect both local beliefs and contemporary parenting standards. This will ensure a more cohesive and supportive environment for children's holistic development.

Other relatives and extended family

Beyond the immediate family, the broader network of extended relatives—such as *titos* (uncles), *titas* (aunts), and cousins—plays a crucial role in caregiving within Filipino households. In many cases, children are entrusted to the care of these extended family members, especially during times of parental absence due to work or migration. This extended family structure not only provides practical support but also serves as an emotional safety net, reinforcing a sense of belonging and stability in a child's life.

The practice of involving extended family members in child-rearing reflects the cultural value placed on pag-aalaga as a shared responsibility, emphasizing that child development is a collective effort rather than solely the duty of parents. Participant 5, a mother in her late 20s from rural Philippines, shared her experience, "Even though my son is my first child, I can't recall any major challenges in early child care, maybe because I have support in our household. I didn't have a hard time even when I left for work because I live with my titas, titos, and cousins who also have children, so they became my support". Similarly, another mother in her 30s living in Metro Manila described, "When I leave for community work, the ones left at home are my sibling and my mom. They are the ones who watch over and take care of the kids at home, including my child."

The role of extended family members extends beyond immediate supervision; they contribute to children's socialization and development. Participant 12 explained, "In terms of socialization, he is more exposed to adults than to other kids because we have a lot of extended family at home. So as she grows up, he's mostly surrounded by adults. We also don't baby talk to her; she speaks directly." This interaction fosters maturity and language skills, as children learn from the diverse perspectives of older family members.

Furthermore, limited parental involvement often highlights the importance of these relatives and even neighbors in the child's education and care. Participant 6 emphasized this, saying, "Sometimes we teach our eldest here assignments since she's already in primary school, but often we can't because we also lack the knowledge. So she often goes to her classmate's house, who is our neighbor. They do their assignments together and help each other out." This illustrates how the support network extends beyond the family, creating a community of shared responsibility that nurtures children's growth and development. Overall, the involvement of extended family members in early childcare is a vital component of Filipino culture, ensuring that children receive comprehensive support as they navigate their formative years.

Theme 2: Educational institution and wider community involvement

Daycare learning experiences and socio-economic differences

In the formalized setting of early education, preschool teachers play a pivotal role in a child's development. As the first adults outside the family to introduce structured learning and socialization, they often become central figures of authority in children's lives. This is

especially important in educational contexts, where children may exhibit more discipline and focus compared to their behavior at home. Participant 14, a father of three from Aurora, observed, "A child can easily manipulate a parent to play instead of doing homework, but they show more respect towards teachers in terms of educational learning." Teachers thus help shape both academic skills and social behaviors, fostering respect for authority and encouraging a more disciplined approach to learning.

However, access to quality daycare and preschool programs varies significantly between urban and rural areas and across income groups. Wealthier families tend to view preschool as a way to enhance their child's socialization skills and limit screen time. On the other hand, middle and lower-income families often see daycare as a means to accelerate academic success. Despite these differing motivations, parents across socio-economic backgrounds share concerns about the long-term effects of early schooling. They fear that early academic pressure could lead to burnout or disengagement, with children growing weary of more formal schooling later in life. Some parents expressed concern about the heavy focus on academic milestones in early learning - such ambivalence has been pointed out in earlier studies and reports. Participant 3, a father of two from Manila, shared his observations: "Our daughter started daycare when she was 3 years old. It's a facility offered in the university so it's very close to our workplace. I noticed early on that they emphasized memorization, and there were already so many activity papers. I also observed this in other daycares—some kids' bags were already so big, and they were just in daycare. There were so many assignments, mostly focused on memorization. I think when it's like that, it doesn't really enhance their analytical and critical thinking skills." Melania echoed this sentiment, emphasizing the importance of play in early childhood: "It shouldn't be like that, not yet. It feels like kids' minds are nabubugbog (getting overwhelmed) with studying. You should let them enjoy their childhood first. Let them play for now. Because nowadays, even at one or two years old, they're already being made to do all sorts of things. As a result, it feels like nothing is really sinking in, and they just end up confused.

Logistical challenges also come into play when sending children to daycare. The responsibility of *hatid-sundo* (drop-off and pick-up) often falls on parents or guardians, which can be difficult for daily wage earners who cannot easily take time off work. In some cases, grandparents may not be able to help due to their own commitments or poor health. While public daycare services are often free, there are usually miscellaneous fees, with parents contributing to extracurricular events or other preschool needs.

The availability of daycare centers also differs between urban and rural settings. In some provinces in Luzon, daycare centers are organized by *purok* (neighborhood) rather than *barangay* (district), resulting in more localized, community-based facilities with fewer students. These smaller centers typically have a maximum of 15 children, allowing for more individualized attention. In contrast, larger barangay-based centers in Metro Manila may accommodate 20-30 children in a session, which can dilute the quality of care and education. This highlights the importance of community-based approaches, suggesting that smaller, localized facilities may better meet children's developmental needs, especially in underserved areas.

As daycare services become more widely available, both children and parents are increasingly drawn to them. Participant 7, a mother of two who works as a virtual assistant, shared her experience: "I didn't send my first child to daycare because it wasn't really common back then. When she was five, she still couldn't write, and when I tried to enroll her in kindergarten, they wouldn't accept her yet because she was required to know how to write. Fortunately, the

preschool teacher offered tutoring. For my second child, I decided to send her to daycare because she seemed bored at home. She also sees her older sister in school and gets jealous. So, I asked around and my friends recommended daycare services. I've noticed that she is more 'advanced' than her older sister at the same age—by three or four years old, she could already read and write."

This rise in daycare's popularity also highlights the agency of children in shaping their own educational experiences. As Participant 1 explained, "If it were up to me, I wouldn't enroll my daughter in preschool yet because I think it's too early. She can play at home since there are other children here—her cousins, aunts, and uncles. Plus, my work is flexible, so she can be with me. But she sees the neighborhood kids in their uniforms, and she keeps asking about it. She's jealous and wants to go to school already."

This illustrates how children's preferences and social observations can influence parental decisions about early education. Children, through their interactions with peers, may play a key role in directing when they start formal schooling. This interaction allows parents to recognize the benefits of early education, even if they were initially hesitant.

Ultimately, early learning programs must strike a balance between academic milestones and the need for socialization and play. Policymakers should consider not only facility-based daycare but also community-based early education programs that are affordable, culturally relevant, and accessible, ensuring that all children across all socioeconomic groups and demographics have equal opportunities to thrive in their early years.

Influence of community members

The involvement of barangay health workers (BHWs) and religious communities plays a vital role in the Filipino Early Childhood Care and Development (ECCD) landscape. BHWs, trained in child nutrition and vaccination, are at the forefront of public health initiatives. Their expertise and social standing within the community make them trusted figures in health-related decision-making. As one parent, Participant 4, emphasized, daycare facilities are instrumental in monitoring children's health and nutrition—tasks that many families may struggle to manage independently: "Our daycare is great because it's connected to nutritional and health programs for children. Trained BHWs and daycare teachers check the children's weight, teeth, and nutrition status. We can't do that at home on our own. If a child has a dental issue, it might just be overlooked. We don't have a weighing scale at home to check their weight regularly, and it's not something you think about doing every day. That's why the daycare is beneficial; they keep track of the children's nutrition."

The collaboration between BHWs and daycare centers ensures that children receive regular health assessments and necessary interventions, underscoring the importance of community support in fostering healthy development. Another parent, Participant 5, recalled her experience: "The BHWs went door-to-door in our area and mentioned that there's a daycare in our barangay. They explained the various activities the daycare offers." This highlights how BHWs actively engage with families to promote daycare services and inform them about available community resources, helping them access essential services.

Religious institutions also play a role in shaping parenting practices related to early education. Contrary to the emphasis many parents place on socialization and play, Participant 15 shared a different perspective: "Christian communities prefer homeschooling even for early education. My friends at church often ask me when I will start homeschooling my son. He's only 1 year old! Honestly, I would prefer to send him to public schools." Grace's comment reflects a growing trend among some religious communities to favor homeschooling as an alternative to traditional education. This preference often stems from a desire to instill specific values and beliefs in children, highlighting how cultural and community influences shape parenting choices.

By acknowledging these diverse perspectives within the ECCD framework, we gain a deeper understanding of the critical role community members play in shaping children's early experiences and education. Whether through health initiatives led by BHWs or value-driven educational choices influenced by religious communities, these interactions significantly impact a child's developmental journey.

Theme 3: Barriers to early childhood care and education

Given the involvement of 'significant others' such as grandparents, siblings, and domestic helpers in early childcare, many parents interviewed struggled to pinpoint specific challenges in early childhood care. However, overarching issues such as time constraints, divided attention, and financial burdens frequently emerged as barriers. The blurred distinction between traditional paternal and maternal roles was notable, with both parents increasingly participating in the workforce to provide for their families. This shift has intensified concerns about the lack of quality time and attention that working parents can devote to their children, particularly during the crucial early developmental years. Fathers and mothers alike expressed anxiety about balancing their dual roles as providers and caregivers.

A notable concern for many parents is the exposure of young children to mobile technology. With the increasing availability and ownership of smartphones and tablets, screen time has become a common solution for keeping children occupied while parents manage work and household responsibilities for both low and middle-income households. Participant 6 illustrated this in his interview, "From time to time my wife and I teach them how to read and count, things like that. But since we don't have the time to teach our little kids every day the way we would like to, they end up getting used to watching YouTube on cell phones. That's also our way to not let them get used to being attached to us all the time because we are out and about for work"

Even though mobile devices offer convenience and access to a multitude of interactive educational materials, parents worry about the negative implications of excessive screen time, particularly its impact on their child's social skills, physical activity, and emotional development. As Participant 9 lamented, "The world wasn't aware of how dangerous it was but now we're more aware. But during that time, It would have been so easy to just leave your kids with the iPad if you needed to be in the office. And they're happy, and they seem like they're fine, you know, with a mobile phone. They seem like they're going to be okay because they're happy, they're learning. It's educational, they learn how to read. But actually, it's really bad for them because their social skills are diminished."

In more affluent households, parents noted that limited communal spaces and increased privacy in neighborhoods have reduced spontaneous outdoor play. Unlike in the past, where children could simply step outside to interact with peers, playtime now requires deliberate scheduling of playdates—a task often falling on the shoulders of parents who are already juggling numerous responsibilities. Participant 9 continued to discuss his parenting dilemma, "We realized that preschool is very important for socialization. Because here in the city, it's hard to find playmates. Unlike before, especially in the provinces, you could just step outside the house and there would already be kids to play with. Here, you have to schedule and organize everything. It takes a lot of effort just to arrange things and establish friendships for our children!"

In middle- to low-income communities, parents faced a different set of concerns. They expressed anxiety over the potential exposure of their children to undesirable behaviors or values within their broader neighborhood. These parents often viewed their children's interaction with the local community as a double-edged sword, on one hand, social interaction is important but on the other, exposure to certain environments raised worries about influences they could not control like the use of profanities and vulgar language and vulnerability to certain vices like smoking.

For parents in poorer communities, the focus was more immediate. Their concerns primarily revolved around providing basic necessities like food and shelter. The immediate pressure to meet basic needs leaves little room for parents to reflect on the developmental nuances of early childhood care.

Interestingly, across all socioeconomic groups, parents appeared to exhibit confidence in their parenting abilities during early childhood. It was the adolescent years that posed a greater source of anxiety for many, as children navigate more complex social dynamics and peer influences. Common concerns included how to discipline without resorting to physical methods and managing the challenges of teenage rebellion, evolving traits, and social pressures.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Our findings highlight the need for ECCD policies to expand beyond a parent-centric focus to acknowledge the broader caregiving network that sustains Filipino children. Given how this focus on parents is often based in Western models of ECCDs, there is a need to interrogate these models and their paradigms, including through decolonizing and indigenizing this body of work by incorporating local notions of care, like *pag-aalaga*, and accounting for the gendered nature of caregiving in the country (Estioko et al. 2022).

While this study provides valuable insights, its limitations also highlight opportunities for further research. For instance, our initial focus on parents as primary informants may have overlooked the diverse actors involved in caregiving. Future studies should include a wider range of caregivers. Moreover, the limited sample size means our analysis should be seen as a starting point to inspire, rather than substitute for, more comprehensive research focused on specific demographics.

Nonetheless, the findings of the study provide a substantial basis to support the following policy recommendations:

- 1. Incorporating caregiving skills into school curricula. If parenting roles are in fact distributed across the extended family, then teaching older children caregiving skills to better equip them to support their younger siblings can foster a sense of responsibility and strengthen family ties. This could be part of a broader educational strategy aimed at enhancing life skills across age groups, particularly among senior high school (SHS) students.
- 2. Acknowledging and empowering senior citizens' caregiving roles. Similarly, the significant (and often indispensable) role of grandparents can be proactively leveraged to enhance ECCD. The existing institutional and physical infrastructures for senior citizens can be mobilized to organize training sessions for grandparents, while also recognizing and respecting them as bearers of intergenerational knowledge. Grandparents who are willing and capable can extend their caregiving roles beyond their families by participating in community-based childcare initiatives that offer income opportunities. Such programs, designed to strengthen intergenerational bonds, can create mutual benefits for all involved—parents, grandparents, and children alike.
- **3. Training** *yayas* **and** *kasambahays*. The often-overlooked contributions of *yayas* and *kasambahays* in ECCD present an opportunity to develop programs that recognize their essential role in childrearing. Offering structured training in child development could not only enhance the quality of care they provide but also improve their working conditions. Such initiatives could further draw upon their cultural knowledge and social or educational backgrounds to enrich caregiving practices. By elevating their status within households and equipping them with the necessary skills, these programs would ensure they are better prepared for their roles and fairly compensated for their contributions.
- 4. Supporting daycare institutions and preschool teachers. Given the increasing popularity and acceptance of daycare centers, not only as spaces for early learning but also as vital sites for socialization through play, as reflected in our informants' narratives, our study strongly supports initiatives aimed at enhancing daycare services. These initiatives should include increasing the number of public daycare institutions to accommodate the growing demand and exploring other alternative forms of early childhood socialization and care, such as facilitated or supervised community playgrounds. Such alternatives can provide opportunities for children to engage in guided play and interaction within their communities. Additionally, improving the training of community health and social workers involved in ECCD programs implemented by local government units (LGUs) is crucial. This can ensure that these workers are well-equipped to meet the diverse needs of children and families they serve. Lastly, it is essential to make daycare services more accessible, particularly for low-income families and those living in remote or underserved areas, where access to quality early childhood programs remains a significant challenge.
- **5.** Addressing gender inequality in ECCD. Even as our study finds that ECCD involves various actors beyond parents, most of these actors are women, reflecting the gender inequality in the country and the fact that women elder sisters, grandmothers, *kasambahays* engage in unpaid care work (Tongson, n.d.). Investments in ECCD must address this inequality by ensuring adequate support and proper compensation for women and pursuing strategies to increase the participation of men in childcare.

Significantly, those belonging to non-traditional families (e.g. single parents, live-in arrangements, same sex couples) must be meaningfully considered in these initiatives.

Overall, our study finds that it truly 'takes a village' to raise a child (see(Dahlberg 1999), particularly so in a very intergenerational, communal society like the Philippines. A fuller recognition and documentation of this fact - including through policy reform and further research - can pave the way for more grounded, effective, gender-affirmative, culturally resonant ways to improve outcomes not just for child development but for community health and well-being.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Alampay, Liane Peña. 2014. "Parenting in the Philippines." In Science Across Cultures: The History of Non-Western Science, 105–21. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.
- ——. 2024. "Cultural Values, Parenting and Child Adjustment in the Philippines." International Journal of Psychology: Journal International de Psychologie 59 (4): 568–77.
- Alampay, Liane Peña, and Rosanne M. Jocson. 2011. "Attributions and Attitudes of Mothers and Fathers in the Philippines." Parenting, Science and Practice 11 (2-3): 163–76.
- Alfafara, Nina F., Marvin S. Canque, and Cape Beverlyn G. Genobiagon. 2021. "Programs and Activities in a Rural Primary School in the Philippines: A Qualitative Inquiry on Parents' Perspective." Turkish Online Journal of Qualitative Inquiry 12 (5). https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&profile=ehost&scope=site&auth type=crawler&jrnl=13096591&AN=160600524&h=E3TMEHU0PfzRxSovpCAXFii D6T%2Baoz%2Bsn99bYEW%2F3yOOYby7uN5seYHzOvdfuXt3BbGk4XVkmDhyr nSWdljh1Q%3D%3D&crl=c.
- Arde, Bernardo Oliber A., Jr, and Marciana P. De Vera. 2022. "Parental Feeding Style of Mothers in the Province of Ilocos Sur." Philippine Journal of Nursing 92 (1). https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&profile=ehost&scope=site&auth type=crawler&jrnl=00483818&AN=161738881&h=bZ46uxmxjD7x76%2BXP%2F%2Bof%2BI6nrKOrU1BF24MyIc8OqMrHjyj3%2BNJz%2BrDeDQ5mBn3P%2BnY6wOAD1exgN%2FfvtStdA%3D%3D&crl=c.
- Arellano-Carandang, Maria Lourdes. 1987. "Filipino Children under Stress: Family Dynamics and Therapy." (No Title). https://cir.nii.ac.jp/crid/1130282269688883968.
- Boszormenyi-Nagy, Ivan. 2014. Invisible Loyalties. Routledge.
- Dahlberg, G. 1999. "Beyond Quality in Early Childhood Education and Care: Postmodern Perspectives."
 - $https://books.google.com/books?hl=en\&lr=\&id=OJObniJ5BL8C\&oi=fnd\&pg=PP8\&dq=Beyond+Quality+in+Early+Childhood+Education+and+Care\&ots=UuiwA4R06f\&sig=DoFNb2_zLLwRGCD7Itfi1zOie8M.$
- Denney, Liya, Imelda Angeles-Agdeppa, Mario V. Capanzana, Marvin B. Toledo, Juliana Donohue, and Alicia Carriquiry. 2018. "Nutrient Intakes and Food Sources of Filipino Infants, Toddlers and Young Children Are Inadequate: Findings from the National Nutrition Survey 2013." Nutrients 10 (11): 1730.
- Dominguez, Georgia B., and Brian J. Hall. 2022. "The Health Status and Related Interventions for Children Left behind due to Parental Migration in the Philippines: A Scoping Review." The Lancet Regional Health. Western Pacific 28 (100566): 100566.
- Espartinez, Alma. 2022. "Lived Experiences of Mothering and Teaching during the Pandemic: A Narrative Inquiry on College Faculty Mothers in the Philippines." Social Sciences (Basel, Switzerland) 12 (1): 24.
- Estioko, Daniel Anne C., Mikaela Marie A. Haveria, Ella Beatrice R. Veloso, and Mendiola Teng-Calleja. 2022. "Experiences of Intergenerational Caregiving among Women Belonging to the Sandwich Generation: An Example from the Philippines." Journal of Intergenerational Relationships, March, 1–18.
- Faircloth, Charlotte, Diane M. Hoffman, and Linda L. Layne, eds. 2013. Parenting in Global Perspective: Negotiating Ideologies of Kinship, Self and Politics. Relationships and Resources. London, England: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203103906.
- Furedi, Frank. 2002. "Paranoid Parenting: Why Ignoring the Experts May Be Best for Your Child." (No Title), September. https://cir.nii.ac.jp/crid/1130282272436634240.

- Garcia, Aileen S., and Maria Rosario T. de Guzman. 2020. "The Meanings and Ways of Parental Involvement among Low-Income Filipinos." *Early Childhood Research Ouarterly* 53:343–54.
- Goco, Danielle Elish. 2019. "Experiences of Mothers from Dual-Career Families on Child-Rearing of Their Preschool-Aged Children." Bachelor's Degree, Diliman, Quezon City: University of the Philippines. https://www.academia.edu/download/62174496/Experiences_of_Mothers_from_Dual-career_Families_on_Child-rearing_of_their_Preschool-aged_Children20200223-66306-j50ja6.pdf.
- Go Tian-Ng, Rizason L., and Jofel D. Umandap. 2023. "An Exposition of the Multidimensionality of the Tagasalo Personality." In *Resilience and Familism: The Dynamic Nature of Families in the Philippines*, edited by Veronica L. Gregorio, Clarence M. Batan, and Sampson Lee Blair, 103–25. Contemporary Perspectives in Family Research. Emerald Publishing Limited.
- Guest, Greg, Emily Namey, and Mario Chen. 2020. "A Simple Method to Assess and Report Thematic Saturation in Qualitative Research." *PloS One* 15 (5): e0232076.
- Habito, Christine Marie, Alison Morgan, and Cathy Vaughan. 2024. "You Can Still Have Dreams for Your Child': Filipino Young People's Lived Experiences of Parenthood." *Journal of Youth Studies* 27 (4): 524–43.
- Hirschfeld, Lawrence A. 2002. "Why Don't Anthropologists like Children?" *American Anthropologist* 104 (2): 611–27.
- Jabar, Melvin Allena. 2021. "Qualitative Inquiry on Parental Involvement in Children's Education: Perspectives of Parents, Children, and Teachers in Select Elementary Schools in the Philippines." *Asia Pacific Journal of Education* 41 (3): 488–502.
- Lasco, Gideon, Christian Edward, L. Nuevo, Marie Lauren, P. Nolasco, N. Ferlie Rose Ann, Josephine R. Famaloan, Donna Bundoc, S. Isabel, and Raoul Capili. 2022. "It's as If I'm the One Suffering": Narratives of Parents of Children with Disability in the Philippines." *Acta Medica Philippina* 56.
- Masiran, Ruziana, Normala Ibrahim, Hamidin Awang, and Poh Ying Lim. 2023. "The Positive and Negative Aspects of Parentification: An Integrated Review." *Children and Youth Services Review* 144 (106709): 106709.
- McLaughlin, Katie A. 2016. "Future Directions in Childhood Adversity and Youth Psychopathology." *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology: The Official Journal for the Society of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, American Psychological Association, Division 53* 45 (3): 361–82.
- McNeal, B. Ralph, and Jr. 2014. "Parent Involvement, Academic Achievement and the Role of Student Attitudes and Behaviors as Mediators." *Universal Journal of Educational Research* 2 (8): 564–76.
- Morelli, Gilda, Naomi Quinn, Nandita Chaudhary, Marga Vicedo, Mariano Rosabal-Coto, Heidi Keller, Marjorie Murray, Alma Gottlieb, Gabriel Scheidecker, and Akira Takada. 2018. "Ethical Challenges of Parenting Interventions in Low- to Middle-Income Countries." *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology* 49 (1): 5–24.
- Mundoc, A., A. J. Lerin, B. L. Gioca, F. S. Ulama, G. Orillaneda, J. J. Salarda, and P. J. Ralla. 2024. "Understanding Low-Income Parental Experiences: A Qualitative Analysis." *Open Journal of Social Sciences* 12 (5): 75–104.
- NNC. 2023. "EO 51: Safeguarding the Importance of Breastfeeding." 2023. https://www.nnc.gov.ph//regional-offices/mindanao/caraga/9724-eo-51-safeguarding-the-importance-of-breastfeeding.

- Nuttall, Amy K., Qian Zhang, Kristin Valentino, and John G. Borkowski. 2019. "Intergenerational Risk of Parentification and Infantilization to Externalizing Moderated by Child Temperament: Intergenerational Risk." *Journal of Marriage and the Family* 81 (3): 648–61.
- Ochoa, D. P. 2014. "Parental Socialization of Moral Behaviors in the Context of Poverty." *Philippine Journal of Psychology* 47 (1): 41–72.
- Sato, Mari, Hitoshi Oshitani, Raita Tamaki, Nobuko Oyamada, Kineko Sato, Alkaff Raihana Nadra, Jhoys Landicho, Portia P. Alday, Socorro Lupisan, and Veronica L. Tallo. 2018. "Father's Roles and Perspectives on Healthcare Seeking for Children with Pneumonia: Findings of a Qualitative Study in a Rural Community of the Philippines." *BMJ Open* 8 (11): e023857.
- Scheidecker, Gabriel, Nandita Chaudhary, Heidi Keller, Francesca Mezzenzana, and David F. Lancy. 2023. "'Poor Brain Development' in the Global South? Challenging the Science of Early Childhood Interventions." *Ethos (Berkeley, Calif.)* 51 (1): 3–26.
- Spray, J. 2018. "The Value of Anthropology in Child Health Policy." *Anthropology in Action: Newsletter of the British Association for Social Anthropology in Policy and Practice (BASAPP)*. https://www.berghahnjournals.com/view/journals/aia/25/1/aia250104.xml.
- Tamis-LeMonda, C. S., and E. T. Rodriguez. 2008. "Parents' Role in Fostering Young Children's Learning and Language Development." *Encyclopedia on Early Childhood Development* 1:1–11.
- Tariga, Jonathan Necor, Dyanika Paray Nolasco, and Syrille Joyce Raspado Barayuga. 2021. "Food Consumption Habits of Consumers in the Philippines: Changes amidst the Pandemic." *International Journal of Public Health Science (IJPHS)* 10 (3): 662.
- Teng, Jaena Clarice C., Angela Dionne F. Hilario, Lauren Marie A. Sauler, Ma Cristina M. De Los Reyes, and Myla Arcinas. 2021. "Parentification Experiences of Filipino Young Professional Daughters during the COVID-19 Pandemic." *Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences Studies* 3 (4): 19–32.
- Tongson, Excelsa C. n.d. "Childcare Investments in the Philippines." Accessed November 21, 2024. https://cdn.unrisd.org/assets/library/papers/pdf-files/2023/wp-2023-1-philippine-childcare-investment.pdf.
- Torres, Erika, Regienald Angeles, Francis Enrico Gaurano, Isaiah Joshua Soncuan, and Paul Yumang. 2023. "Mothering, Modernity, and Medicine: A Qualitative Study on the Health-Seeking Behaviors of First-Time Mothers Outside Pediatric" *Globus: An International Journal of Medical Science, Engineering & Technology 12, No. 1.*
- Urdabe, Margaret Helen. 2001. "The Tagasalo Personality." *Philippine Journal of Psychology*. https://pssc.org.ph/wp-content/pssc-archives/Philippine%20Journal%20of%20Psychology/2001/Num%202/06_The%20Tagasalo%20Personality.pdf.
- Weisner, T. S. n.d. "Childhood_Anthropological_Aspects." academia.edu. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-097086-8.<?thyc=10?>12032<?show \$132#?>-<?show \$132#?>X<?thyc?>.